### Application for Status as a "Chartered District" of MBAA

In accord with the Policy Statement for Governing Chartered Districts of Master Brewers Association of the Americas, Inc. (adopted by the Master Brewers Association of the Americas, Inc. (hereafter, MBAA) Board of Governors July 2012), and as part of reconfiguring existing Districts all to incorporated status with concomitant 501(c)(3) qualification (per MBAA Board of Governors action July 2012), an incorporated Minnesota nonprofit entity has been formed and that entity now makes application to MBAA for admittance and rostering of such nonprofit corporation to status as a Chartered District of MBAA.

Legal Name of Applying District:

DISTRICT MILWAUKEE OF THE MASTER BREWERS ASSOCIATION OF THE AMERICAS

Date Applying District was incorporated: 12/11/2012

Attested to by Officer of incorporated entity named above: Michael Color and print sitte)

## ... Chartered District Agreement...

On behalf of the Applying District named above, which is a Minnesota nonprofit corporation, (hereafter, DISTRICT) the undersigned Officer(s) of DISTRICT hereby state(s) that s/he or they has/have been authorized to certify and signify to the DISTRICT's agreement to be bound to the following terms with respect to, and for all such times that DISTRICT shall be, holding status as a **Chartered District of MBAA:** 

- (1) DISTRICT shall maintain legal registration and authority to operate as a Minnesota nonprofit corporation;
- (2) DISTRICT shall include in its legal name the phrase "Master Brewers Association of the Americas" after the name of the geographic area or region served;
- (3) DISTRICT shall not alter or redefine the DISTRICT'S geographic area or region or change its legal name without prior approval of MBAA;
- (4) DISTRICT shall be subject to the following discipline by and under the authority of MBAA's Board of Governors
  - a. Suspension from status as a Chartered District for a period of thirty (30) days or more, but not to exceed ninety (90) days, for cause, upon having been provided notice of such action, in writing, within fourteen (14) days thereof, giving the reasons thereof. While under suspension (and not under trusteeship) no meeting shall be held in the name of the DISTRICT, except for the sole purpose of the discussion of the cause, effect or removal of the discipline and/or penalty assigned by MBAA. No funds of the DISTRICT shall be expended or obligations incurred during and while the order of suspension is in force and effect. Furthermore, MBAA's Board of Governors is also empowered to direct that any funds deposited in financial institutions in the name of the DISTRICT shall be frozen during the period of suspension. MBAA's Board of Governors may undertake a second suspension, or alternatively revoke DISTRICT'S charter, if the underlying cause of the initial suspension is not corrected during the first period. During such second suspension, MBAA's Executive Committee may also direct that the assets of the DISTRICT be

- transferred to the trusteeship of MBAA's Board of Governors;
- b. Regardless of the existence (or absence) of grounds of cause which may exist, DISTRICT agrees that it shall be subject to suspension or revocation from status as a Chartered District should DISTRICT resort to civil court action against another Chartered District, MBAA, or MBAA's Board of Governors; and
- c. Were DISTRICT to have its Chartered District status revoked, it shall immediately amend its legal name to drop the phrase "Master Brewers Association of the Americas" and take all steps to effect that its property, money and effects shall and are then immediately reverted to MBAA, to be held in trust by MBAA's Board of Governor for a period of eighteen months. In the event DISTRICT is not re-chartered within such period, said property, money and effects shall become the absolute property of MBAA;
- (5) DISTRICT shall maintain Articles of Incorporation in a format and including substance as required and approved by MBAA. DISTRICT's Articles shall include the specific location/region served, specific limits on operations in accord with qualification for tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code; and other address required by MBAA;
- (6) DISTRICT agrees to adopt and at all times thereafter operate under By-laws that are in the form specified by MBAA;
- (7) DISTRICT shall submit any and all proposed changes in its Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws to MBAA for approval and DISTRICT'S District Officers shall not contemplate the adoption of such amendments or bring same to review before the DISTRICT's membership until such time MBAA has approved the proposed changes;
- (8) DISTRICT shall adopt and follow the same fiscal year as MBAA;
- (9) DISTRICT shall keep a complete financial record of all monies received, expended and remitted, and at all times ensure that its monies be deposited in its name;
- (10) DISTRICT shall hold at least two District Officers meetings annually; and
- (11) DISTRICT shall use database and accounting systems as required and approved by MBAA for its financial recordkeeping/reporting, in favor of maintaining members' information, and to provide information capture and output recording related to its programming, volunteers and guests.

DISTRICT MILWAUKEE OF THE MASTER BREWERS ASSOCIATION OF THE AMERICAS

BY: Melan Scanzello Bob 11/21/2013. Title Date

MASTER BREWERS ASSOCIATION OF THE AMERICAS, INC.

BY: Signature / Printed Name Title Date

#### **BYLAWS**

**OF** 

# DISTRICT MILWAUKEE MASTER BREWERS ASSOCIATION OF THE AMERICAS

#### ARTICLE I PURPOSE

As set out in the District's Articles of Incorporation, the corporation (hereafter, "District") has been organized for and shall operate to conduct exclusively charitable and educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as a District of the Master Brewers Association of the Americas, Inc. (hereafter, "MBAA"), engaging in efforts within the geographic region the District's name delineates to:

advance, support, promote, and encourage scientific research into brewing malt beverages and related industries and to make the results of that research available to the public through conventions, discussion groups, journals, publications and seminars.

### ARTICLE II MEMBERSHIP

- Section 1. <u>Membership to be non-voting</u>. Pursuant to the District's Articles of Incorporation, the District does not have voting members.
- Section 2. <u>Affiliated MBAA Members</u>. The District Officers shall treat as members of this District those individuals or organizations who have membership in MBAA and who have designated membership with this District, so long as those members are in good standing with MBAA and have not violated standards set by the District Officers (which determination shall be entirely within the jurisdiction of the District Officers).
- Section 3. <u>Annual Meeting</u>. As the corporation has no voting members it is not required to have an annual meeting to report to such members, but shall hold an "annual" or "anniversary" meeting of the corporation's District Officers who shall there meet and conduct business as set out in Article IV below.
- Section 4. Members' Privileges. Members shall be entitled to receive information about the organization's purposes and activities as determined by the District Officers from time to time. Members shall also have the right to vote on matters expressly submitted or delegated by the District Officers to the members for polling on either a binding or advisory basis, as the District Officers determine. Members shall also have such additional rights and privileges as may be conferred upon them from time to time by the District Officers.
- Section 5. <u>Election of Governor to Board of Governors of the Master Brewers Association of the Americas, Inc.</u> Notwithstanding the preceding Sections of this Article, the District Officers shall oversee and direct the election from and by this District's members of a Governor in accord with

the By-laws of Master Brewers Association of the Americas, Inc. (specifically, MBAA's By-laws at Article VI, Section 2).

# ARTICLE III BOARD OF DIRECTORS (also known as DISTRICT OFFICERS)

Section 1. <u>Election</u>. The District Officers of the District shall be referred to as the District Officers. Such group shall consist of no fewer than 3 persons nor greater than [\_\_\_\_\_], and subject to such limitation, the number of members of the District Officers shall be that designated from time to time by the District Officers. Each District Officer shall be elected by the then-seated District Officers at each annual or anniversary meeting after polling of members' recommendations for District Officer election.

Section 2. <u>Terms</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein, each District Officer shall be elected to serve for a term of [choose – minimum one (1)] year(s). A District Officer shall hold office for the term for which he or she was elected and until the end of the meeting at which her or his successor has been elected and until such successor has qualified, or until the District Officer's prior death, resignation or removal.

Section 3. <u>Removal and vacancies</u>. Any District Officer may at any time be removed with or without cause by the District Officers. Any vacancy occurring because of the death, resignation or removal of a District Officer or because of an increase in the number of members of the District Officers shall be filled by the then-seated District Officers (for the unexpired term of a departed District Officer.

# ARTICLE IV MEETINGS OF THE DISTRICT OFFICERS

Section 1. <u>Annual/Anniversary Meeting</u>. The annual meeting of the District Officers for the purpose of electing their members and transacting such other business as may properly come before the meeting shall be held each year at the time and place, within or without the corporation's founding jurisdiction (the State of Minnesota), designated from time to time by the District Officers.

Section 2. Regular meetings. Regular meetings of the District Officer may be held at such time and place as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board. After the time and place of such regular meetings have been so determined, no notice of such regular meetings need be given. Meetings may be held elsewhere, or at alternative times, if the notice of the meeting clearly provides so. Notice of any change in the place or time of holding any regular meeting, or of any adjournment of a regular meeting to reconvene at a different place, shall be given personally, by mail (postage prepaid), telephone, or mode of electronic communication consented to by the District Officer (for example, e-mail or fax) not less than two days before the meeting, excluding the day of the meeting, to all directors who were absent at the time such action to schedule the meeting was taken.

Section 3. Other Meetings. Other meetings of the District Officers may be held at such time and place as are announced at a previous meeting of the District Officers. Meetings of the District Officers may also be called at any time (a) by the President, (b) by the District Officers, or (c)

upon the written request of two or more District Officers. Anyone entitled to call a meeting of the District Officers may make a written request to the President to call the meeting, and the President shall give notice of the meeting, setting forth the time, place and purpose thereof, to be held between five [this is Statutory default; you may choose some other time period or require some subset of the Board to so call a meeting] and \_\_\_\_\_\_ days after receiving the request [notice shall be given personally, by mail (postage prepaid), telephone, or mode of electronic communication consented to by the District Officers (for example, e-mail or fax)]. If the President fails to give notice of the meeting within seven days from the day on which the request was made, the person or persons who requested the meeting may fix the time and place of the meeting and give notice in the manner hereinafter provided.

Section 4. Notice. Notice of each meeting of the District Officers for which written notice is required shall be given personally, or by mail (postage prepaid), telephone, or mode of electronic communication consented to by the District Officer (for example, e-mail or fax)], and except as otherwise noted herein, shall state the time, place and purpose thereof. Unless otherwise stated herein, required notice shall be given no less than five [again this is Statutory default] nor more than thirty days before the meeting, excluding the day of the meeting, to each director at his or her address according to the last available records of the District. Any District Officer may waive notice of a meeting of the District Officers before, at or after the meeting, orally, in writing or by attendance. Attendance by a District Officer at a meeting is a waiver of notice of that meeting, unless the District Officer objects at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened and does not participate in the meeting.

Section 5. Participation by Electronic Means of Communications. A District Officer or committee member may participate in a meeting by any means of communication through which such person, other persons so participating, and all persons physically present at the meeting may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. Participating in a meeting by that means constitutes presence in person at the meeting. A conference District Officers or committee members by any means of communication through which such persons may simultaneously hear each other during the conference is a meeting of the District Officers or committee, as the case may be, if the same notice is given of the conference as would be required for a meeting, and if the number of persons participating in the conference would be sufficient to constitute a quorum at a meeting. Participation in a meeting by that means constitutes presence in person at the meeting.

Section 6. Quorum and Voting. The presence of a majority of the members of the District Officers then-serving, shall constitute a quorum at any meeting thereof, but the District Officers present at any meeting, although less than a quorum, may adjourn the meeting from time to time. At all meetings of the District Officers, each member shall be entitled to cast one vote on any question coming before the meeting. A majority vote of the District Officers present at any meeting, if there be a quorum, shall be sufficient to transact any business unless a greater number of votes is required by law or these Bylaws. A District Officer shall not appoint a proxy for himself or herself or vote by proxy at a meeting of the District Officers. A District Officer who is present at a meeting of the District Officers when an action is taken is presumed to have assented to the action unless the District Officer votes against the action or is prohibited from voting on the action.

Section 7. Remote Action and Written Actions (action without meeting). All meetings of the District Officers may be held by one or more means of remote communication as permitted by the Minnesota Nonprofit Corporation Act. Any action that could be taken at a meeting of the District Officers may be taken by written action signed, or consented to by authenticated electronic communication, by the District Officers, as follows: written action must be signed or consented to by all of the District Officers entitled to vote on the action. For such action to be effective, upon signature of the last required District Officers, immediate notice of the action and effective date shall be made to all District Officers.

Section 8. <u>Conflicts of Interest</u>. The District shall not enter into any contract or transaction with one or more of its District Officers, an organization in or of which a District officer is a director, officer or legal representative or has a material financial interest, or a family member of the District Officer(s), without complying with the provisions of Article VII. In no case shall the corporation permit an "excess benefit transaction" as defined in Section 4958 of the Code. If a contract or transaction would have been permitted under the preceding sentence, failure of the corporation to comply with Article VII shall not invalidate any contract or transaction to which the District is a party, although the contract may be voidable under the Minnesota Nonprofit Corporation Act.

### ARTICLE V OFFICERS

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the District shall consist of, at minimum, a President, and a Treasurer. [it is imperative to note that State law requires a President and Treasurer be in place at all times, to carry out the responsibilities noted in the relevant Sections below]. Officers shall be those individuals holding title as an "Officer" and elected with that title to serve as a member of the District Officers. Any vacancy occurring in office shall be filled by the District Officers in accord with Article III, Section 4 of these By-laws.

Section 2. President. The President shall have general active management of the business of the corporation [these functions MUST at all times be situated under the authority of one or more persons; assuming you situate them in one individual they would have all such ultimate responsibility – note too that someone with any of these responsibilities and delegates some or all of those to others still remain the "responsible" party to see that these duties are properly effected!]; see that orders and resolutions of the District Officers are carried into effect; may execute on behalf of the corporation all contracts, deeds, conveyances or other instruments in writing which may be required or authorized by the District Officers for the proper and necessary transaction of the business of the District; maintain records of and, when necessary, certify proceedings of the District Officers; and perform other duties as may be assigned to him or her from time to time by the District Officers.

Section 3. <u>Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer shall keep accurate financial records for the corporation [these functions MUST at all times be situated under the authority of one or more persons; assuming you situate them in one individual they would have all such ultimate responsibility – note too that someone with any of these responsibilities and delegates some or all of those to others still remain the "responsible" party to see that these duties are properly effected!] and is responsible for maintaining accurate financial records for the District and safeguarding the assets of the District. He or she shall present a report of the District's financial transactions and status

limited to, an individual's relationship to an organization with respect to which rights of the individual exist, whether or not yet vested, for payment of dividends, profit-sharing, compensation, reimbursement of expenses, repayment of obligations or other liabilities, from the organization, but for purposes of the prior section "material financial interest" does not include fixing the compensation of the director or fixing the compensation of another director as a director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation, even though the first director is also receiving compensation from the corporation.

Section 3. <u>Conflict of interest policy</u>. The need for a conflict of interest policy that staff members, District Officers shall adhere to is established by the immediately two preceding Sections of this Article. Such policy shall be established and annually reviewed by the District Officers.

Adopted by the District Officers on 1/2/2013 (Enter date)	
That fact is attested to by _	ANDREW JONES, as follows: (Print name)
The foregoing is an accurate and complete duplication of the adopted By-laws:	
(Signature)	PRESIDENT - MBAA DIST. MILWAUKEE (Print Title)